RECEIVED

06-25-2013

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I Appeal No. 2013AP190 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff - Respondent,

v.

JAMES HOWARD,

Defendant - Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction And the Denial of a Postconviction Motion in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County L.C. 2009CF1245 Jean A. DIMotto, Judge.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF and APPENDIX

Lew A. Wasserman 1019200 Attorney for Defendant - Appellant Law Offices of Jean M. Kies, S.C. 135 West Wells Street, Suite 330 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53203 (414) 272-7622 office (414) 272-4744 fax attywasserman@wi.rr.com

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This court is asked to review whether the circuit court erroneously exercised discretion denying Howard a hearing on two postconviction claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, and from an order after a hearing denying Howard's remaining claim alleging ineffective assistance of counsel for the failure to file a pretrial motion to suppress a search warrant. Thus, Howard seeks reversal of a jury verdict convicting him of two counts relating to allegations that he had sexual contact, and non-consent sexual contact with an inmate of the Milwaukee County Jail, on March 7, 2009. The Judgment of Conviction and the orders denying Howard's postconviction motion were entered in the circuit court for Milwaukee County.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant would welcome the opportunity for Oral Argument. Publication of this case would clearly advance and clarify the issues presented herein concerning the important 4th Amendment issues raised herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Criminal Complaint (R2; App. 101), was filed on March 12, 2009. An Information (R5; App 104), was filed on March 19, 2009, and an Amended Information was filed on September 14, 2010. Howard was charged in Count 1 with Second Degree Sexual Assault (Inmate by Correctional Officer), a Class C Felony, in violation of WIS. STAT. § 940.225(2)(h), and in Count 2 with Third Degree Sexual Assault, a Class G Felony, in violation of WIS. STAT. § 940.225(3); both counts relating to allegations of sexual contact with Shanika T, on March 7, 2009, in the Milwaukee County Jail. Howard was charged in Count 3 with Second Degree Sexual Assault (Inmate by Correctional Officer), a Class C Felony, in violation of WIS. STAT. § 940.225(2)(h), and in Count 4 with Third Degree Sexual Assault, a Class G Felony, in violation of WIS. STAT. § 940.225(3); both counts relating to allegations of sexual contact with Marletha R., on March 7, 2009, in the Milwaukee County Jail.

Howard filed no pretrial motions, and a jury trial commenced on September 14, 2009, with the return of verdicts on September 17, 2009. R62-R68. Howard was found not guilty of Counts 1 and 2, and guilty of Counts 3 and 4. Prior to sentencing, Howard's trial counsel filed a Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence, R16, which was denied on April 7, 2011, after a additional briefing and a motion hearing. R69. That order is not the subject of this appeal.

Sentencing occurred on May 17, 2011. Howard was sentenced to prison for a total of 5 years, 8 months on Count 3, with a confinement period of 4 years and 6 months. On Count 4 Howard was sentenced to prison for a total of 5 years, 8 months, with a confinement period of 4 years and 6 months. The sentences were ordered concurrent to each other and consecutive to any other sentence. The period of Extended Supervision was 14 months. See R22, R24-26; App 106-108. Howard, still represented by trial counsel, filed his WIS. STAT. § 809.30 Rule, postconviction motion on January 16, 2012, R34. The state filed a response, R36, however when the appellant's wife read on CCAP that Howard's trial/postconviction counsel had notified the court that no reply brief was to be filed, Howard moved the court to substitute new counsel by way of a letter from the undersigned counsel, filed March 21, 2012. R40.

On July 23, 2012, Howard, with new counsel, filed his Amended Postconviction Motion For New Trial, R47-48, alleging that Howard, despite acquittal on counts 1 and 2, had received ineffective assistance of counsel concerning the guilty verdicts returned in Counts 3 and 4. After the state filed a response, R50, and Howard filed a Reply, R51, the postconviction court issued a Decision and Order, R52; App 110, partially denying the motion for postconviction relief, and ordering a hearing on Howard's claim that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to file a motion to suppress a search warrant for his penile swabs.

After Howard filed a Motion in Limine concerning the proposed hearing procedures, R55, and the state filed a response, R56, a motion hearing was held on January 10, 2013, R71, wherein 3 witnesses testified for the state, and 4 exhibits were admitted, in support of the state's effort to meet its burden of proof in attempting to reconstruct a missing search warrant affidavit. In denying Howard's remaining postconviction claims, the court found that the state had successfully reconstructed the missing search warrant affidavit, and therefore Howard was not prejudiced by his trial counsel's failure to file a suppression motion concerning the penile swab search warrant. R71:62-69; App 117, 121. Howard filed a timely Notice of Appeal, R60. Therefore, this is a direct appeal from a Judgment of Conviction, and denial of a §809.30 postconviction motion filed in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Howard was accused of sexually assaulting two female inmates of the Milwaukee County Jail on March 7, 2009. At the time Howard was a corrections officer working in the pods. R2, App 101. After the two women complained that Howard had forced them into sexual favors he was arrested, interviewed, and then taken to the Sexual Assault Treatment Center (hereinafter: SATC) for forensic processing. Somewhere in that time period (all on March 7, 2009) detectives obtained a warrant to search Howard's residence and collect, among other items, clothing believed worn by Howard at the time of the alleged assaults. This warrant, signed on March 7, 2009, at 10:46 pm, by the Hon. Thomas P. Donegan, at his residence, is not challenged on appeal.

What is challenged in this appeal is whether detectives possessed a valid search warrant for Howard's external penile swabs, as more fully detailed below. What is further challenged is whether the penile swab warrant (it is often referred to in the proceedings as "the Santiago warrant"), was supported by a valid Affidavit. The penile swab warrant was never filed, and a copy of the signed and notarized Affidavit in support of the penile swab warrant has never been located. It is (at least now) acknowledged by the state that the penile swab warrant does not authorize the taking of buccal swabs, although until the filing of the appellant's Amended Postconviction Motion, R47, the state had invariably asserted that the penile swab warrant also authorized the taking of buccal swabs. It is undisputed, and was found by the postconviction court, that no buccal swab warrant was ever sought or prepared.

The significance of the challenged warrants to the guilty verdicts in counts 3 and 4 is clear. The state, at trial, called John McCormack, a DNA analyst with the Wisconsin State Crime Lab. R67:3. Throughout his testimony he referred to buccal swabs, and penile swabs obtained from Howard. R67:3-85, *passim*. McCormack was able to identify Howard as the main contributor to the penile and the buccal developed DNA profiles. R67:34-35. That seems obvious, but the state thought it highly significant. See R67:35-38. The buccal swab DNA profile was necessary for McCormack to testify that the Y-STR profile developed from sperm cells found on scraps of toilet paper identified as coming from Cell 39, Pod 6-D, Marletha R.'s cell, was consistent with the Y-STR profile of James Howard. R67:50-53.

On September 17, 2010, a jury returned a verdict of not guilty on two counts of sexual assault (Counts 1 and 2 of the Information) based on allegations made by Shanika T., whose trial testimony, given September 14, 2010, can be found at R63:83-144. The jury found Mr. Howard guilty of two counts of sexual assault (Counts 3 and 4 of the Information) based on allegations made by Marletha R., whose trial testimony, given September 15, 2010, can be found at R64:3-96. Howard makes one claim concerning the testimony and rulings made during the trial; that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to testimony, by a nurse that examined Marletha R., that violated the rule announced in *State v. Haseltine*, 120 Wis.2d 92 (Ct. App. 1984), as more fully detailed below.

Because what happened after the verdict spawned all the remaining issues, the procedural events are more fully detailed. Howard filed no pre-trial motions seeking suppression of physical evidence. But on February 15, 2011, several months after the jury's September 17, 2010, verdict Howard, with the same counsel that represented him at trial, filed a self proclaimed "strange" Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence, alleging that all evidence obtained during a search of the defendant's person based on a search warrant issued on March 7, 2009, which authorized the taking of buccal swabs, should be suppressed. See R16. In response to inquires by Attorney Boyle requesting a copy of the buccal swab warrant, the state explained that a "copy of the search warrant that authorized the collection of buccal swabs from Mr. Howard," could not be located. Mr. Tiffin then stated, at R48:7; App 109:

However, in looking at the exhibit list, exhibit 20 is described as a search warrant and exhibit 21 is described as a search warrant return. I believe, but cannot be certain without looking at them, that exhibit 20 is the search warrant that authorized the collection of buccal swabs from Mr. Howard and exhibit 21 is the search warrant return (although it appears, based upon a very brief review by Det. Rosenstein, that the return was not filed in the clerk's office).

In the State's Response to Howard's motion, R17:1, filed March 3, 2011, the state asserted:

As the court is aware, having heard the trial, a detective from the Milwaukee County Sheriff's Department obtained buccal swabs from Mr. Howard pursuant to a valid search warrant. The buccal swabs were the source of Mr. Howard's DNA and DNA evidence was presented at trial. The State has not been able to find any record that the Sheriff's Department filed a return of the search warrant.

In this filing, some 18 months after the trial, as with the letter to trial counsel, the state continued to assert, falsely, that buccal swabs were obtained pursuant to a valid search warrant. At the April 7, 2011, hearing, trial counsel asserted that she had been informed by Mr. Tiffin that, "he contacted the sheriff's department and they have no such authenticated copy or no such search warrant on file anywhere as a copy." R69:5. The court denied the motion. R69:5-6. The Court then set sentencing for May 17, 2011.

On July 23, 2012, Howard filed an Amended Postconviction Motion For New Trial, R47, with an attached supporting Affidavit, R48. The amended motion noted that it was the motion alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel forecast by the state after Howard's trial counsel filed her untimely Motion to Suppress. See R16, R17:2. Howard alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to file a pretrial motion to suppress evidence obtained from the buccal swabs, because, as detailed at R47:8-10, there was never any warrant ordering the seizure and search of Howard's bodily tissue - by way of obtaining buccal swabs. Howard noted that he had found a search warrant filed in the office of the clerk of circuit court, together with an Affidavit and Return, authorizing the search of Mr. Howard's residence and collection of clothing and underwear, See App 115, but with no mention of buccal or penile swabs. See R47:8, citing to Milwaukee County Circuit Court file 2009SW000333, found at R48:6.

Howard argued the collection of buccal swabs was without benefit of a search warrant, and it was ineffective assistance of trial counsel to fail to understand that the penile swab warrant did not authorize the collection of buccal swabs, and thus the collection of buccal swabs was a forbidden warrantless search requiring suppression of the evidence - Howard's DNA profile - that was crucial to the state's case and without which it was highly unlikely the state would have met its burden of proof in counts 3 and 4, relating to Marletha R. R47:11.

Howard's second argument was that trial counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial because she failed to move to suppress the seizure of Howard's underwear and penile swabs, because the state had failed to file the warrant (not just the return), and had failed to ever provide an affidavit in support of the warrant, and thus there was no way for the state to support the conclusion that the warrant met standards of reasonableness or that it was supported by probable cause. R47:13.

Howard's third claim was that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to inadmissible and highly prejudicial trial testimony from Karen Hogan, who testified concerning the injuries she observed on Ms. R. R47:15-16. Direct examination of Ms. Hogan was a walk-through of her report, until the prosecutor, at R65:68-69, asked:

- Q. You had an adult woman presenting who had said a man had forced penis-to-vagina sexual intercourse, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. You see no injuries, correct?
- A. I see --
- Q. Other than the posterior fourchette, the one that is drawn?
- A. Yes, that is correct.
- Q. Is the absence of more injury a reason to disbelieve her story?
- A. No.

The state's response, R50, with exhibits, acknowledged that the warrant authorizing the collection of "underwear and penile swabs" from Mr. Howard, "did not authorize the collection of buccal swabs," and that, "there is no other warrant that authorized the collection of buccal swabs from the defendant." R50:2. In what seemed to be an unusually candid admission, the state conceded, at R50:2, n.2, that,

In the State's response to that motion [R16], the State incorrectly wrote that "a detective from the Milwaukee County Sheriff's Department obtained buccal swabs from Mr. Howard pursuant to a valid search warrant." It was not until this [R47] postconviction motion was received that the State noticed that the search warrant did not authorize the collection of buccal swabs from the defendant."

In response to Howard's claim that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to move to suppress the penile swab warrant, the state supplied, "an unsigned copy of Det. Santiago's affidavit in support of the search warrant." R50:5, Exhibit D. Nonetheless, the state acknowledged that had trial counsel brought a suppression motion concerning the penile swab warrant, "it would not have been able to locate the original affidavit or a signed copy thereof." R50:6.

Howard filed a Reply, R51, asserting that the state should be judicially estopped from now arguing a position thoroughly inconsistent with that taken in all earlier proceedings - the state had always asserted that it had obtained a buccal swab warrant on or about March 7, 2009, indeed the state had always asserted that one warrant authorized buccal swab and external penile swab collection. Howard argued this false assertion amounted to an intentional manipulation of the judicial system. R51:2. The state was now arguing that an actual warrant was unnecessary! Moreover, Howard argued that *inevitable discovery* would not aid the state because the state had never sought or obtained a buccal swab warrant. R51:3.

On September 17, 2012, R52; App 110, the court issued its Decision and Order Partially Denying Motion For Postconviction Relief For New Trial and Order For Evidentiary Hearing on Claim Two. The court found, "it is undisputed that a search warrant for the taking of buccal swabs from the defendant does not exist. R52:2; App. 111. The court further noted that, "it is undisputed that a search warrant for the taking of penile swabs is not supported by a signed affidavit from the detective who sought the search warrant because no one can locate one." Id.

Despite these findings, the court found that the state's lack of any warrant would not have necessitated suppression because, "even if a motion to suppress were granted, the State would simply have filed a motion asking the court to order the defendant to provide buccal swabs." Id. Thus the court denied Howard's motion for an evidentiary hearing and a new trial on that basis. Id. The court further found that the state had not intentionally manipulated the system, citing to *State v. Petty*, 201 Wis.2d 337 (1996), and thus was not estopped from asserting the admittedly inconsistent positions of first claiming (falsely) to have a buccal swab search warrant and then claiming the non-existent warrant was unnecessary. Id.

The court found that the state's loss (if loss it was) of a signed affidavit to support the warrant for the taking of the external penile swabs was "more problematic" and therefore ordered a hearing to permit the state to reconstruct the existence and contents of the unsigned affidavit before determining if trial counsel was ineffective in not challenging the warrant. Id.

As to Howard's claim that Nurse Hogan's testimony violated the rule announced in *State v. Haseltine,* 120 Wis.2d 92 (Ct. App. 1984), the court found that the testimony was admissible, because the testimony objected to (in postconviction proceedings) was followed by a medical explanation of why it was not necessarily required to disbelieve the victim. R52:3; App. 112. The court's citation to the testimony, in part, and found in its entirety at R65:68-69; see also App. 112, was:

- Q. Why not?
- A. Because the vaginal area, a woman's genital areas, especially the vaginal area is very elastic. I kind of compare it to like a balloon.

After the court's September 17, 2012, Order scheduling a hearing, R52, Howard filed a Motion in Limine, R55, seeking an Order limiting or prohibiting the testimony of Judge Donegan, and limiting the testimony of Detective Santiago. The Motion further asserted that because the state's witnesses had no recollection of the original search warrant process, the state could not adequately reconstruct the record of the search warrant process, and Mr. Howard's right to due process and his right to a meaningful appeal would be unfairly compromised by the procedure proposed by the state. R55:1.

The state's plan for the 'reconstruction' hearing, Howard asserted, was to introduce a copy of the signed search warrant (already of record as Exhibit A to the state's response to Howard's amended motion, see R50); and to introduce, through Detective Santiago, Exhibit D of the state's response and thereby claim that it was a true copy (although lacking a signature) of the affidavit prepared on March 7, 2009 and presented to Judge Donegan. Howard complained that the state had failed to so much as proffer an affidavit from Det. Santiago asserting that the unsigned affidavit was identical to one presented to Judge Donegan, or that indeed one was presented to Judge Donegan. R55:2-4. Howard argued that pursuant to *State v. Raflik*, 2001 WI 129, the delay in reconstruction was per se unreasonable, therefore the court should find that Howard's motion to suppress must be granted. Howard asserted that the introduction exemplar affidavits

Howard also attached to R55 a copy of a report dated October 2, 2012, prepared by Detective Todd A. Rosenstein, detailing his interview with Judge Thomas Donegan. Det. Rosenstein asserted that Judge Donegan, when shown a copy of the penile swab search warrant, "confirmed it was indeed his signature on the search warrant." R55:9. Judge Donegan also stated to the detective that he had no specific recollection of signing the document back on March 7, 2009. The detective asked Judge Donegan if the judge would have noticed that the affidavit was not signed and notarized, and indicated the judge said, "I'm sure I would have." Judge Donegan stated he would not have signed the warrant if the affidavit was not signed. Id. Howard argued, as he does herein, that the purpose of a reconstruction hearing would be thwarted by permitting testimony

of "usual and customary" practices, and that by permitting the issuing judge to contribute to the record after the probable cause determination was made (assuming that it was, which is doubtful) violates the holding in *Glodowski v. State*, 196 Wis 265 (1928), which remains good law.

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