## RECEIVED

09-10-2013

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2013AP190-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES HOWARD,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND THE DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, CASE NO. 2009CF1245, THE HONORABLE JEAN A. DIMOTTO, PRESIDING.

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

SALLY L. WELLMAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1013419

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

> The detectives then took the search warrants together to the residence of Judge Donegan. Judge Donegan was the designated duty judge for that particular night. Judge Donegan in his practice and pattern reviewed the respective affidavits to see if they were signed and then to see or determine if probable cause existed in the affidavit such that the search warrant could be signed and the specific search authorized. The search warrant of Detective Rosenstein related to the search of the defendant's premises, his home.

The affidavit presented for each of those search warrants was signed and notarized by the respective detectives. After which the search warrant for penile swabs was executed at Sinai Sexual Assault Treatment center. A search was made of the likely places where the signed affidavit and search warrant relating to the penile swabs might be. They were not in the Sheriff's Department's case folder for this particular investigation, they were not at I.A.D. that has a copy of that case folder within the Sheriff's Department, they were not within the D.A.'s Office, they were not within or the affidavit was not within the Sexual Assault Treatment Center's premises. Although the search warrant was. They were not within the Clerk's Office either, Exhibit 3 or 4. It's entirely unclear where the existence -- or where the location of exhibit -- strike that -- of what the signed affidavit of then Detective Santiago is.

Mr. Howard should be completely satisfied that every stone was unturned, lifted up, inspected by Mr. Wasserman, even pebbles were looked under, even gravel in pursuit of this post-conviction motion for a new trial.

I'm satisfied that the State has met its burden to reconstruct the events relating to these affidavits -- or affidavit and search warrant, and accordingly, I deny that portion of the post-conviction motion that deals with the loss of the signed affidavit.

Furthermore, because I have denied that, now I find that it would -- or I conclude that had a suppression motion been brought by trial counsel, it too would have been denied, and so there -- the second prong of the <u>Strickland</u> standard for ineffective assistance of counsel is not met, and correspondingly, as is the procedure, I do not address the first prong of it.

Accordingly, I now deny in its entirety the postconviction motion for a new trial. Thank you for the opportunity to review this matter.

(71:66-69).

Howard failed to meet his burden of proving that trial counsel's failure to file a pre-trial motion to suppress the penile swabs warrant was prejudicial. At the postconviction hearing, the State proved that a signed, sworn affidavit, which indisputably presented probable cause, had been presented to and reviewed by the issuing judge, who then signed the warrant, but the affidavit was subsequently lost. Thus, if a pre-trial suppression motion had been made, the motion would have been denied, the resulting DNA evidence would have been presented at trial and there is no reasonable probability that but for the failure to file the motion, the result of the trial would have been different.

The postconviction court, as finder of fact, was the sole arbiter of credibility. *State v. Ayala*, 2011 WI App 6, ¶ 10, 331 Wis. 2d 171, 793 N.W.2d 511. The facts found by the postconviction court are not clearly erroneous. This court reviews *de novo* whether under those facts, Howard met his burden of proving trial counsel's failure to file a pre-trial motion to suppress the penile swabs evidence was prejudicial. *Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 10.

Howard does not argue that these facts as found by the postconviction court are clearly erroneous. Indeed, he virtually concedes that based on the postconviction court's credibility determinations and findings of fact, he did not prove prejudice.

He argues only that the search warrant did not bear an authorized signature and Judge Donegan's testimony that he would not have signed a warrant if he was presented with an unsigned affidavit was improperly admitted. His arguments are without merit, as the State will demonstrate below. B. The record does not support Howard's assertion on appeal that the penile swabs search warrant bears an unauthorized signature.

In his postconviction motion, Howard never alleged that the penile swabs search warrant bears an unauthorized signature (47). At the postconviction motion hearing, although he asked Judge Donegan some questions about his signature on the search warrant, he did not present a handwriting expert to provide an opinion that the signature on the penile swabs warrant was not that of Judge Donegan. Howard did not provide any evidence that someone other than Judge Donegan signed the warrant or somehow copied or placed Judge Donegan's signature on the warrant. Indeed, at the close of the evidence, Howard did not argue that Judge Donegan had not signed the search warrant, or that the search warrant did not bear an authorized signature. Thus, the postconviction court did not make a finding of fact on that matter because Howard did not put that matter into controversy. Indeed, he conceded that "[i]f this were a suppression hearing, then in fact it was a valid warrant" Howard contended only that the State was required to reconstruct the warrant application event and it could not do so solely because Judge Donegan did not remember the actual event (71:66).

Accordingly, this court should not even consider Howard's appellate claim that the penile swabs search warrant does not bear an authorized signature. *Maclin v. State*, 92 Wis. 2d 323, 328-32, 284 N.W.2d 661 (1979). If this court does consider it, it must find it to be wholly without merit.

At the postconviction hearing, the search warrant authorizing the collection of Howard's underwear and penile swabs, bearing Judge Donegan's signature, was offered and received as Exhibit 1 (71:13, 61-62).

Judge Donegan, who was retired at the time of the postconviction hearing, identified the signature, Thomas P. Donegan, on Exhibit 1 (the penile swabs search warrant) as his signature (71:52). He testified that although the signature on Exhibit 1 and the signature on Exhibit 3 (a search warrant for the search of Howard's residence that he had signed at the same time) were not perfect replicas of each other, they looked to him like the same signature (71:56). It was Judge Donegan's opinion that any slight differences in the signatures was attributable to whether he signed one faster or slower than the other (71:58).

The record does not support Howard's appellate claim that Judge Donegan's signature on the penile swabs search warrant was an unauthorized signature.

C. Judge Donegan's testimony was properly admitted at the postconviction hearing and any possible error in admitting the evidence was harmless error.

At the postconviction hearing, Judge Donegan, who issued the penile swabs search warrant, identified his signature on the warrant (71:52). He testified that he had no actual memory of the warrant process in this case (71:53). However, he testified as follows:

- Q Do you have a common practice when law enforcement presents you with a search warrant that is based not upon live testimony but based upon an affidavit?
- A Well, yes.
- Q And can you describe what that would be[?]
- A Well, we certainly look to see that it's a signed affidavit and then we look for the contents of the affidavit to determine whether we believe there

- is probable cause to authorize the activity asked for without any prior action.
- Q Based upon your experience, do you believe that if an affidavit had been presented to you that was not signed and notarized in support of a search warrant you would have recognized that and noticed that?
- A Well, I'm convinced I would not sign anything that did not have the signature in the affidavit. We look for a signed affidavit. That's a basic.

#### (71:54). On cross-examination, he further testified:

- Q Well, you told us that if you had an unsigned affidavit, you would not sign the warrant. Correct?
- A I believe I would not. I believe -- obviously I wouldn't if I saw that it wasn't signed.
- Q Right.
- A I would have to be pretty sloppy not to notice it wasn't signed.

(71:58-59).

Howard claims Judge Donegan should not have been allowed to testify to his usual practice. Howard's complaint is contrary to established law. In *Steinberg v. Arcilla*, 194 Wis. 2d 759, 768-770, 535 N.W.2d 444 (Ct. App. 1995), this court held that an anesthesiologist, who had no memory of the surgery at issue, was properly allowed to testify regarding his regular methodology, which he had used in numerous prior surgeries. This court explained that such habit evidence is relevant because it makes it more probable that on the occasion at issue, the individual acted consistent with his habit. *Id.* at 765.

Howard claims Judge Donegan's testimony should not have been permitted in this case because the postconviction hearing occurred nearly three years after the search warrant was issued, whereas in *State v. Raflik*, 2001 WI 129, ¶ 12, 248 Wis. 2d 593, 636 N.W.2d 690, a reconstruction of the warrant process occurred within 24 hours of the original warrant application.

Raflik is not controlling here. In Raflik, the State applied for and obtained a search warrant by telephone, but mistakenly failed to record the application process as required by statute. As soon as the error occurred, the applicants and judge reconstructed the warrant application process within 24 hours of the original application.

In Howard's case, in contrast, there was nothing wrong with the original warrant application process. The search warrant was requested and obtained in person, and thus was not required to be recorded. Unfortunately, in this case, after the search warrant was obtained and executed, the supporting affidavit was lost. The postconviction court properly held that where an affidavit is lost, its existence and contents, and the fact that it was presented to the issuing court can be proved by other means.

In *United States v. Lambert*, 887 F.2d 1568, 1571-72 (11th Cir. 1989), the court held that where an affidavit cannot be found and is not in the court file, other evidence may be presented to establish the fact that an affidavit was presented to the issuing magistrate, as well as the contents of the affidavit. *See also United States v. Gibbs*, 421 F.3d 352 (5th Cir. 2005).

In *United States v. Pratt*, 438 F.3d 1264, 1266 (11th Cir. 2006), the search warrant was lost after it had been executed, and the court held that other evidence may be used to establish the existence and contents of a lost search warrant. At a subsequent hearing to suppress the evidence, the judge testified that he did not remember issuing the specific warrant at issue. However, he was allowed to testify that he follows the same process every time, he described that process, and he testified that he was "absolutely sure" that he had done so in this instance

and issued a search warrant with descriptive language identical to that of the affidavit, which was in evidence. *Pratt*, 438 F.3d at 1267-68. The trial court found the judge's testimony, as well as that of the requesting officer's testimony, credible. Based on that evidence the trial court found that a proper and constitutionally valid search warrant existed. The reviewing court upheld the trial court's decision, holding that the government need not prove a lost document's existence with certainty, but only by a preponderance of the evidence. *Pratt*, 438 F.3d at 1270. This is consistent with the State's burden of proof at a suppression hearing, which is by a preponderance of the evidence. *See United States v. Matlock*, 415 U.S. 164, 177 n.14 (1974).

In Howard's case, based on the testimony of the detectives and Judge Donegan, which the postconviction court found credible, the evidence was more than sufficient to prove the existence and contents of the lost affidavit by a preponderance of the evidence.

Howard also misplaces reliance on *Glodowski v*. *State*, 196 Wis. 265, 220 N.W. 227 (1928), in which no record had been made of the facts proffered by the Sheriff to establish probable cause for the search warrant issued. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that under the circumstances presented in that case, it was error for the judge at the suppression hearing to allow additional evidence of probable cause to be presented.

In Howard's case, in contrast, no additional proof of probable cause was presented. Rather, the contents of the affidavit were proven by an unsigned but accurate copy of the affidavit itself.

For all of these reasons, the postconviction court properly allowed Judge Donegan to testify regarding his ordinary practice. In any event, any error in admitting Judge Donegan's testimony was harmless. The testimony of the Detectives, summarized above, which the postconviction court found credible, was more than

adequate to prove the existence of the affidavit, and to prove that the affidavit was presented to and reviewed by Judge Donegan before he signed the search warrant. Accordingly, it is clear that the postconviction court would have denied relief even absent Judge Donegan's testimony regarding his usual practice.

> III. THE POSTCONVICTION COURT **PROPERLY DENIED** RELIEF WITHOUT AN **EVIDENTIARY** HEARING ONHOWARD'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS **INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING** TO **OBJECT** TO CERTAIN TESTIMONY OF THE SEXUAL ASSAULT TREATMENT CENTER NURSE EXAMINER.

The postconviction court properly denied Howard's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to certain testimony of the sexual assault treatment center nurse examiner because the record conclusively demonstrates that Howard is not entitled to relief. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 569, ¶¶ 9, 12, 15. Because the testimony was not objectionable, trial counsel's failure to object was not deficient performance and the failure to object was not prejudicial.

At trial, the following questions were asked and answered by the sexual assault treatment center nurse who examined Marletha R.:

- Q You had an adult woman presenting who had said a man had forced penis-to-vagina sexual intercourse, correct?
- A Yes.
- Q You see no injuries, correct?
- A I see --

- Q Other than the posterior fourchette, the one that is drawn?
- A Yes, that's correct.
- Q Is the absence of more injury a reason to disbelieve her story?
- A No.
- Q Why not?
- A Because the vaginal area, a woman's genital areas, especially the vaginal area is very elastic. I kind of compare it to like a balloon. If you think of a balloon, if you don't blow air into it, it's collapsable [sic]. You know, you can take a balloon and put a tampon into it like the vagina. You can put a penis into it, all right. You can even put the head of a baby through the vagina. And there often, and through the cervix, there often is no injury to the vagina and to this whole area. That's a very normal finding.

(65:68-69).

In *State v. Haseltine*, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 352 N.W.2d 673 (Ct. App. 1984), the State presented the testimony of a psychiatrist who testified about the behavior pattern exhibited by incest victims. This court held that certain further testimony by the psychiatrist, however, was improperly permitted:

The psychiatrist testified that, in his opinion, Haseltine's daughter presented a typical case of intrafamilial sexual abuse and she was an incest victim. Because the court erred in admitting the psychiatrist's opinion that Haseltine's daughter was an incest victim, and because we cannot conclude that the error was harmless, we reverse the judgment and remand this matter to the circuit court for a new trial.

Haseltine was charged with sexual contact for allegedly fondling his daughter's breasts. This allegedly occurred in her bedroom, which Haseltine left only to avoid discovery by another family member. He was charged with threatening to injure his daughter because he allegedly struck and kicked her and threatened her with death if she told anyone that he had been sexually abusing her. The state sought to show that these two incidents were part of a pattern of sexual and physical abuse by Haseltine against family members.

Haseltine's daughter testified that over a twoyear period, Haseltine repeatedly had sexual intercourse with her, sometimes more than once a week. She also testified that Haseltine had beaten other family members. Haseltine's older daughter testified that when she was thirteen years old, Haseltine had once entered her bedroom and fondled her breasts. Finally, the state presented a psychiatrist's testimony concerning the pattern of behavior exhibited by incest victims. The psychiatrist was also permitted to give his opinion that there "was no doubt whatsoever" that Haseltine's daughter was an incest victim.

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